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V.

AMAZON.COM, INC., a Delaware
corporation,

Case 2:22-cv-00965 Document 1 Filed 07/13/22 Page 1 of 55

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF WASHINGTON
AT SEATTLE

CHRISTOPHER BROWN, SCOTT No.
GRAEBER, LAURA LOES, LETICIA
SHAW, and DAVID ATWOOD, on behalf of CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT
themselves and all others similarly situated,

Plaintiffs,
DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

Defendant.

DOCKET

A R M Find authenticated court documents without watermarks at docketalarm.com.



https://www.docketalarm.com/

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27

DOCKET

_ ARM

Case 2:22-cv-00965 Document 1 Filed 07/13/22 Page 2 of 55

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page
I INTRODUCTION ..ottt ettt ettt sttt st e e ente s et ebeeneesseenseeneesneensens 1
II. JURISDICTION ..ottt ettt ettt et e st be st e saeeseeneenseenseeneenes 10
ITI. VENUE ...ttt et ettt et e et e bt e e st e seense e st e sseenseenaenes 11
IV, PARTIES L.ttt ettt et et e bt et e e st e beenteenee s st enteeneenseenseenaens 11
A. PLAINEITES ..ot 11
B. Defendant AMAZom ........cocuiiiiiiiiiiiieie e 13
V. STATEMENT OF FACTS ...ttt sttt emae s ae s 13
A. MMAs reduce online retail competition and raise consumer prices...................... 13
B. Amazon’s MMASs reduce competition on Amazon Marketplace. ............ceeeuueen. 16
C. The two-sided Online Retail Marketplace Market is the relevant
market to assess the anticompetitive impact of Amazon’s MMAs...........cccceuee. 25
1. The Online Retail Marketplace Market does not include
brick-and-mortar retailers. ..........coviiiiiiiiiiiieeee e 28
2. The Online Retail Marketplace Market does not include
single-merchant €-COMMETCE SItES. .......cevvureeriieeriieeiieeeieeereeeeieeeevee e 31
3. Social media, comparison shopping sites, and promotional
sites are not interchangeable with online retail
MATKEIPIACES. 1vviieiiiieciie ettt e e e e e eaaeeea 33
4. Online marketplaces with limited categories of goods are
not reasonably interchangeable with broad-based online
MATKEIPIACES. 1vvvieeiiieciie ettt e st bee e aee e eareeea 34
D. Amazon’s MMAs harm both sides of the Online Retail
Marketplace Market and create barriers to competition from other
online retail Marketplaces. .........cevveieiiieeiii e 35
E. Amazon dominates the Online Retail Marketplace Market..............ccceeevveeennnnns 37
1. Online retail marketplaces, like Amazon Marketplace, have
powerful network effects. ........cocviveviiiiiiee e, 38
2. Amazon does not face any serious competitive threat to its
dominance in the Online Retail Marketplace Market. ..........c.cccccvveennennnee. 41
F. Amazon alternatively dominates the Online Retail Market or
submarkets for specific product categories sold online. ..........ccccceeveiiercierenneennne. 43

Find authenticated court documents without watermarks at docketalarm.com.



https://www.docketalarm.com/

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27

Case 2:22-cv-00965 Document 1 Filed 07/13/22 Page 3 of 55

VI.  INTERSTATE TRADE AND COMMERCE ........cccccocciiiiiiiiiniiiiiiiciceeeee
VII.  CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS ...ttt
VIII. ANTITRUST INJURY AND STANDING .......ccccooiiiiiiiiiiiiiciccecicceeeeee
IX.  CAUSES OF ACTION .....ooiiiiiiiiiiiiiicieec ettt s
FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION VIOLATION OF 15 U.S.C. § 1 .coooiiiiiiiiiiiicieiccece,
SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION VIOLATION OF 15 U.S.C. § 2 c.ocoiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiciiiece
THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION VIOLATION OF CALIFORNIA’S

CARTWRIGHT ACT, CAL. BUS. & PROF. CODE § 16700, ET SEQ.

(PER SE VIOLATION ON BEHALF OF THE CALIFORNIA CLASS) ....cccccecveviennnne.
FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION VIOLATION OF MD. CODE ANN., COM.

LAW § 11-201, ET SEQ. (PER SE VIOLATION ON BEHALF OF THE

MARYLAND CLASS) .ttt sttt s
JURY TRIAL DEMANDED .....ccoiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiicceee et
PRAYER FOR RELIEF ..ottt et

DOCKET

A R M Find authenticated court documents without watermarks at docketalarm.com.



https://www.docketalarm.com/

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27

Case 2:22-cv-00965 Document 1 Filed 07/13/22 Page 4 of 55

Plaintiffs allege the following upon personal knowledge as to themselves and their own
acts, and as to all other matters upon information and belief, based upon the investigation made
by and through their attorneys:

L. INTRODUCTION

1. In Leegin Creative Leather Products v. PSKS, Inc., the Supreme Court warned that

that “the potential anticompetitive consequences of vertical price restraints must not be ignored or

2]

underestimated.”” The Court emphasized that there is a significant “likelihood that the restraint
facilitates” anticompetitive purposes when a dominant retailer is “the impetus for a vertical price
restraint[.]” In particular, the Court warned that a dominant retailer could pressure a manufacturer
into adopting minimum retail prices and “if the manufacturer believes it needs access to the
retailer’s distribution network,” it “might consider it has little choice but to accommodate the
retailer’s demands for vertical price restraints.” In that situation, “the manufacturer does not
establish the practice to stimulate services or to promote its brand”—procompetitive purposes—
but rather to give an “inefficient retailer[] higher profits,” while “[r]etailers with better distribution
systems and lower cost structures would be prevented from charging lower prices.””

2. These concerns are precisely encapsulated by Amazon’s anticompetitive minimum
margin agreements (MMAs) with its suppliers, which Amazon uses to prevent other online
retailers from offering the same product Amazon sells at a lower price. They violate Section 1 of
the Sherman Act’s prohibition against price-fixing by setting a de facto minimum retail price for

the products under agreement. By restraining competition from Amazon’s online retail rivals, these

agreements injure consumers by artificially raising online retail prices for thousands of retail

1551 U.S. 877, 893 (2007).
2 1d. at 893-94.

31d. at 897-98.

41d. at 893.
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brands that Amazon sells. This conduct is a naked restraint under the Sherman Act and a per se
violation of the Cartwright Act (California) and the Maryland Antitrust Act.’

3. Under the MMAs, Amazon suppliers guarantee both that Amazon will be able to
price the supplier’s product competitively against other online competition at least 95% of the time
and that Amazon will receive a minimum margin on each sale regardless of the actual price that
Amazon sells the product at retail.® Amazon enforces this agreement by requiring its suppliers to
compensate it monthly for any lost margins necessitated by lowering its retail price to match a
competitor.’

4. To illustrate how the MMAs work, a supplier may agree, for example, to sell its
product at a wholesale price of $5 per unit and that it will compensate Amazon if it receives less
than $4 over its marginal cost. If Amazon sells at least 95% of the supplier’s product for $9 or
more, the supplier owes Amazon no money. But if, in this example, Amazon lowers its price to $8
to match a competitor’s price that month, then the supplier will owe Amazon $1 for every product
sold at $8 beyond the 5% threshold.

5. So instead of Amazon risking its own profit margins to compete with its retail rivals
on price, Amazon contractually shifts that risk to its suppliers. This shift ensures that Amazon’s
suppliers adopt a de facto minimum retail price (or floor price) for their products market-wide.
That floor price is the combined sum of the supplier’s wholesale price and its minimum margin
guarantee, in the previous example $9 ($5+$84). By requiring suppliers to compensate Amazon
whenever their products sell below the agreed floor price, the MMA agreements fix prices by
penalizing suppliers unless they suppress competitive pricing from Amazon’s rivals.

6. MMAs add to the suppliers’ cost of doing business and are implemented to

accommodate Amazon, not as a means of promoting the suppliers’ products or fostering price

> Frame-Wilson v. Amazon.com, Inc., 2022 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 44109, at *35-36 (W.D. Wash. Mar. 11, 2022)
(holding that price-fixing under California and Maryland’s antitrust statutes is a per se violation whether the scheme
is horizontal (between competitors) or vertical (between entities at different levels of the distribution chain)).

¢ Boyd Evert, The squeeze continues for retail suppliers, https://talkbusiness.net/2017/10/the-squeeze-
continues-for-retail-suppliers/; Lesley Hensell, Amazon Sellers Are Losing Control of Pricing Due to “Standards for
Brands, Webretailer, Nov 08, 2021, https://www.webretailer.com/b/amazon-standards-for-brands/.

71d.
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